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86. To a certain extent, the loss of material is quite in-
evitable, and penalizing the prosecution for each and ev-
ery loss would have serious repercussions. One type of
case which would surely prove difficult to prosecute is
where charges are, for some reason, delayed for a lengthy
period in being brought forward. It is inevitable that some
relevant evidence will be lost in these situations. Although
this Court has ruled on a number of occasions that delay
alone is not a sufficient reason to halt a prosecution (see,
[*84] for example, R. v. L. (WK.), [1991] 1 S.C.R. 1091),
the effect of the reasons of my colleague would inexorably
cause that very result.

87. One of the other difficulties involves extending the
'relevancy’ threshold to all third parties. It is not difficult
to imagine some rather bizarre results which could occur.
Suppose that two co-accused, who I shall refer to as A
and B, are charged with a complicated fraud scheme. In
order to try to cover his tracks, A shreds a personal diary
which detailed how the scheme operated. While A could
not benefit from the destruction of this diary, B would be
entitled to a stay of proceedings. The documents were un-
doubtedly relevant, in that there was a possibility that they
would have been of some use to the defence (although it
is of course equally or even more likely that they were
inculpatory), and as B cannot say what was in them, the
unavailability itself would mandate a stay, without any in-
quiry into whether the absence of the materials prejudiced
B in any way.

88. The problem is exacerbated by a lack of available
remedies in situations of this kind. While Sopinka J. at-
tempts to distinguish the issues of right and remedy, they
are closely [*85] related in cases of missing evidence.
My colleague finds that "the absence of any alternative
remedy that would cure the prejudice to the ability of the
accused to make full answer and defence" (para. 55) in
and of itself justifies the exercise of discretion in favour of
a stay. In this sense, on the test set out by Sopinka J., there
is never any weighing of prejudice to the accused's case.
In his view, once a finding is made that the accused's rights
have been violated, the absence of an alternative remedy
and inability of the court to reconstruct the material, ne-
cessitate a stay. This demonstrates the difficulty of setting
too low a threshold for finding a breach of the right to
full answer and defence. Once a court has made the de-
termination that the accused cannot properly exercise this
right, and hence defend him or herself to the fullest extent
possible, it will be reluctant to continue with the trial.
Using the test proposed by my colleague, the finding of
a breach in and of itself makes an analysis of prejudice
somewhat extraneous.

89. Setting the threshold for a finding of an unfair trial

too low would lead to innumerable stays, contrary to the
"clearest of cases” standard [*86] set by this Court in
O'Connor, supra, and R. v. Power, [1994] 1 S.C.R. 601.
The irony is that these stays will most often occur in
the most serious and complex types of investigations.
As criminal schemes become more voluminous and inter-
twined, the likelihood that some materials will go missing
increases greatly.

90. The situations listed above demonstrate why adopt-
ing the test proposed by my colleague would be unwise.
Moreover, I do not subscribe to his view that such a result
is mandated by established methods of assessing Charter
violations, as stated in his reasons (at para. 27):

This Court has consistently taken the position that the
question of the degree of prejudice suffered by an ac-
cused is not a consideration to be addressed in the context
of determining whether a substantive Charter right has
been breached. The extent to which the Charter violation
caused prejudice to the accused falls to be considered only
at the remedy stage of a Charter analysis.

91. With respect, I disagree. While it is true that, with
regard to certain rights, a degree of prejudice can be in-
ferred, such is not always the case. Indeed, with regard to
most Charter [*87] rights, the accused must demonstrate
some degree of prejudice before the court can reach a de-
termination that a violation has occurred. In other words,
an accused cannot argue that he is unable to have a fair
trial, to take one example, in a vacuum. He or she must
show the effect of a designated action which purportedly
violates his rights. This effect is the prejudice. The afore-
mentioned case of Finta, supra, is one such example. In
that situation, the delay in prosecuting the accused was
not itself sufficient to establish a violation of the Charter.
Actual prejudice needed to be shown. Moreover, it in-
volved a weighing assessment to determine whether the
accused had suffered serious enough prejudice to con-
vince the Court that a violation had taken place.

92. 1 agree with Sopinka J. that with the right to the
assistance of an interpreter and, to a lesser degree, the
right to counsel, the court can infer the necessary degree
of prejudice. But the same is not necessarily true where
the accused alleges a violation of ss. 7 and 11(d) of the
Charter. In such a case, a violation is not so easily found,
and the accused will often have to demonstrate harm to
his [*88] or her interests before a breach can be estab-
lished. This is so for a very simple reason: ss. 7 and 11(d)
encompass extremely broad and multifaceted concerns,
and not every action by the state will automatically trig-
ger a violation. To demonstrate that a breach has actually
occurred often demands a finding and measuring of the
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prejudice suffered.

93. For example, in R. v. Potvin, [1993] 2 S.C.R. 880,
this Court recognized that appellate delay could lead to a
violation of s. 7 of the Charter. As Sopinka J. wrote in
that case, the length of the delay was not an automatic
indicator of a violation of the accused's rights. In order
to demonstrate a violation in cases of systemic delay, the
accused needed to show that he had suffered some "real
prejudice”. In my view, implicit in this terminology is that
a court will have to weigh the specific concerns in each
individual case. 94. This is also the consistent approach
which has been taken to cases involving pre-and post-
charge trial delay. In R. v. Morin, [1992] 1 S.C.R. 771,
Sopinka J., for a majority of the Court, found that the
degree of prejudice suffered by the accused was a very
real factor to measure in determining [*89] whether pre-
trial delay had caused a violation of s. 11(b). While he
found that a certain degree of prejudice could be inferred
from the delay itself, he made it clear that, in most cases,
a breach of the right would not often be found without a
finding of prejudice (at pp. 801 and 803):

... in an individual case, prejudice may be inferred from
the length of the delay. The longer the delay, the more
likely that such an inference will be drawn. In circum-
stances in which prejudice is not inferred and is not oth-
erwise proved, the basis for the enforcement of the indi-
vidual right is seriously undermined.

As discussed previously, the degree of prejudice or ab-
sence thereof is also an important factor in determining
the length of institutional delay that will be tolerated. The
application of any guideline will be influenced by this
factor. [Emphasis added.]

95. Sopinka J. has consistently applied this very standard
in determining whether or not the substantive right in s.
11(b) has actually been violated. In R. v. Sharma, [1992]
1 S.C.R. 814, for example, he applied the legal tests set
out in Morin and arrived at the following conclusion (at
p. 830):

[*90] Applying the factors discussed above, particu-
larly the actions of the accused, the paucity of prejudice
and the guideline concerning institutional delay and tak-
ing into account the interests designed to be protected,
particularly the relative seriousness of the charge, I con-
clude that the delay herein was not unreasonable. Thus,
the rights of the accused under s. 11(b) have not been
violated... [Emphasis added.]

96. This approach to assessing prejudice is by no means
confined to cases involving delay. In R. v. Vermette, [1988]
1 S.C.R. 985, the accused, an inspector with the RCMP,
was charged with the theft of certain political documents.
The matter received a great deal of media and public
scrutiny, and as it involved allegations concerning two
major political parties, even received considerable atten-
tion in the National Assembly. During one question pe-
riod the Premier of Quebec made a number of comments
which disparaged both a defence witness and the accused.
The remarks received widespread publicity and as a result
the accused argued that he could not receive a fair trial,
as he was entitled under s. 11(d) of the Charter, because
prospective jurors [*91] would be prejudiced against
him.

97. La Forest J., for the majority, ruled that it was spec-
ulative to conclude that this was in fact the case, as it
had not been determined that the accused had been prej-
udiced to the extent that he could not have a fair trial. He
essentially adopted the views of Beauregard J.A. in the
Court of Appeal (1984), 16 C.C.C. (3d) 532, [1984] C.A.
466, who stated that despite the actions of the Premier,
it was inaccurate to conclude that the accused's fair trial
had been usurped (at p. 540 C.C.C.):

[translation] ... am of the humble view that it has not been
proved that it would have been impossible to constitute
an impartial jury within a reasonable time. [t cannot be
presumed that, by applying the mechanisms provided at
law to guarantee the impartiality of the jurors, in Montreal
in the fall of 1982, 12 persons could not be found who
would be ready to swear under oath that they had no
preconceived idea of the innocence or guilt of the respon-
dent (whether they knew of the events in the National
Assembly or not) and who could swear to render a verdict
in accordance with only the evidence at trial.

98. Inaccepting this submission, La Forest J. stated [*92]
(at p. 992):

It is only at the stage when the jury is to be selected that
it will be possible to determine whether the respondent
can be tried by an impartial jury. This does not there-
fore involve substituting our opinion for that of the judge.
As Beauregard J. notes, there is no evidence indicating
that it will be impossible to select an impartial jury in a
reasonable time. This is rather a matter of speculation.
[Emphasis added.]

(See on this point: D. Martin, "Rising
Expectations: Slippery Slope or New Horizon? The
Constitutionalization of Criminal Trials in Canada" in
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J. Cameron, ed., The Charter's Impact on the Criminal
Justice System (1996), at pp. 108-9.)

99. Essentially, these cases have all determined that some
measuring of prejudice is necessary in order for an ac-
cused to demonstrate that he or she has actually suffered
a violation of Charter rights. As I said earlier, while some
actions will allow a court to infer the necessary degree of
prejudice, this is not uniformly so. In many cases where
the accused alleges that a particular government action
has deprived him or her of a fair trial, or of his or her lib-
erty not in accordance with fundamental [*93] justice, a
measuring of actual prejudice is necessary to demonstrate
that this right has actually been affected. Given the na-
ture of the action which is being challenged in the present
case the actual pursuing of the prosecution it seems quite
appropriate to require a demonstration of prejudice.

100. Indeed, in O'Connor, supra, I maintained that a find-
ing of prejudice was necessary to demonstrate a violation
of the Charter in cases of non-disclosure by the Crown.
In this regard, cases of missing evidence are quite similar
to the scenario outlined in that case. As I stated (at para.
74):

... [ am in full agreement with the Court of Appeal that
there is no autonomous "right" to disclosure in the Charter
(at pp. 148-49 C.C.C.):

... the right of an accused to full disclosure by the Crown
is an adjunct of the right to make full answer and defence.
It is not itself a constitutionally protected right. What this
means is that while the Crown has an obligation to dis-
close, and the accused has a right to all that which the
Crown is obligated to disclose, a simple breach of the
accused's right to such disclosure does not, in and of it-
self, constitute a violation of [*94] the Charter such as
to entitle a remedy under s. 24(1). This flows from the
fact that the non-disclosure of information which ought
to have been disclosed because it was relevant, in the
sense there was a reasonable possibility it could assist
the accused in making full answer and defence, will not
amount to a violation of the accused's s. 7 right not to be
deprived of liberty except in accordance with the princi-
ples of fundamental justice unless the accused establishes
that the non-disclosure kas probably prejudiced or had
an adverse effect on his or her ability to make full answer
and defence.

It is the distinction between the "reasonable possibility"
of impairment of the right to make full answer and de-
fence and the "probable” impairment of that right which
marks the difference between a mere breach of the right to

relevant disclosure on the one hand and a constitutionally
material non-disclosure on the other. (Italics in original,
underlining added.)

Where the accused seeks to establish that the non-
disclosure by the Crown violates s. 7 of the Charter, he or
she must establish that the impugned non-disclosure has,
on the balance of probabilities, prejudiced [*95] or had
an adverse effect on his or her ability to make full answer
and defence. It goes without saying that such a determi-
nation requires reasonable inquiry into the materiality of
the non-disclosed information. Where the information is
found to be immaterial to the accused's ability to make full
answer and defence, there cannot possibly be a violation
of the Charter in this respect. I would note, moreover,
that inferences or conclusions about the propriety of the
Crown's conduct or intention are not necessarily relevant
to whether or not the accused's right to a fair trial is in-
fringed. The focus must be primarily on the effect of the
impugned actions on the fairness of the accused's trial.
[Emphasis added.]

101. O'Connor, of course, dealt with a situation where
an accused was deprived of evidence as a result of the
Crown's failure to meet its obligation to disclose all rel-
evant evidence. Nevertheless, the analysis in both situa-
tions is actually quite similar. Where material is unavail-
able, the focus should be on discovering how the accused
has suffered as a result. The threshold should be no lower
where an accused is deprived of material because of the
actions [*96] of a third party; indeed, in my view, be-
cause of the many concerns I have already detailed, the
rationale for such a threshold is actually stronger in these
instances.

102. In these types of cases, however, a popular refrain
from the accused is that he or she is unable to show how
the evidence would affect the defence since he or she has
not seen the material. Indeed, this is one of the primary
rationales employed by Sopinka J. in his reasons. I have
already addressed to a certain extent why this is not a
compelling argument. At this juncture, I merely wish to
add a few points.

103. First, we must recall that this was not information
in the possession of the Crown. It is not presumptively
relevant, and there is no statutory or other obligation on
the third party to maintain the material. If the accused
is unable to offer some concrete basis upon which to
persuade the court that the evidence was material to his
defence, its loss should not trouble him. It is as if the
documents never existed. We must recall that where there
is no burden upon a person to even record evidence, the
non-existence of it cannot possibly cause a violation of
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the Charter. Why should cases where this [*97] evidence
has been destroyed be any different? R.v. La (1996), 105
C.C.C. (3d) 417 (Alta. C.A.); Martin, supra, at p. 116.
Moreover, where third parties were in possession, the in-
ability to show how the documents would have helped the
defence, will often demonstrate how the material would
not even have surpassed the "likely relevance" standard
for production in the first place.

104. Second, I find the comments of Professor
MacCrimmon, "Trial by Ordeal" (1996), 1 Can. Crim.
L.R. 31, atpp. 50-51, who was commenting upon the dis-
tinct but related issue of the threshold to have third party
records produced to the court set out in O'Connor, quite
persuasive. Essentially, she states that we cannot look at
this issue in a vacuum, but must keep in mind the var-
ied objects of the criminal justice system and the way it
operates on analogous issues:

Placing an evidentiary burden on accused to establish the
relevance of the contents of records they have not seen
may seem to be unfair if viewed in isolation. In a per-
fect world of fully rational decision-makers and adequate
investigatory resources for both the prosecution and the
defence, it may well be that all information should [*98]
be disclosed. But in the current system where the accused
does not have the right to all information, any proposal to
disclose or not to disclose must be placed in the context
of other limits on disclosure of information and investi-
gatory resources. There are existing limits on the right
to information and "the traditional understanding of the
role of the police ... has not required the police to be-
come defence investigators". The information must be
relevant. There is no right to compel witnesses to talk to
the defence before the trial. There is no right to a pre-
liminary inquiry. There are several instances in which a
higher threshold than a mere assertion of relevance by
the defence has been required. The level of the thresh-
old varies depending on the importance attached to the
interests adversely affected by automatic disclosure. The
accused must establish that a publication ban is necessary
for a fair trial. The defence may not call Crown counsel
as a witness unless they can show "there is a real basis
for believing that it is likely the witness can give mate-
rial evidence". There is a higher standard for intrusion in
places where there is a high expectation of privacy, such
[*99] as law or media offices which require, for instance,
an exploration into whether alternative sources have been
exhausted. [Emphasis added.]

105. In addition, this 'burden’ is also appropriate when
one takes into consideration certain fundamental concepts
inherent to the criminal justice system. It is based on

the idea that all of the relevant evidence in the posses-
sion of the Crown should generally be made available
to the accused, and that the accused should be permit-
ted to lead other relevant evidence to rebut the Crown's
case. Difficulty may well be experienced by an accused in
gathering rebuttal evidence. However, as the respondent
points out, the potential for such difficulty is likely one
of the reasons why the prosecution bears the heavy onus
of proving all aspects of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.
In that regard, the criminal system has always taken into
consideration that it will occasionally be difficult for an
accused to demonstrate innocence, and has removed the
need to do this, by putting a high onus of proof upon the
Crown.

106. Insummary, there are ample legal and policy reasons
for placing the onus upon the accused to demonstrate that
he or she has suffered [*100] a real likelihood of prej-
udice. The burden is not an unmanageable one, and is
consistent with established jurisprudence. It is not proper
to state that a Charter right has been violated and that a
fair trial cannot be had based on pure speculation. This is
not a route which should be taken.

107. It follows that I adopt the standard which has histor-
ically been followed by this Court in Finta and appellate
courts across the country. For missing evidence to cause
a violation of the Charter, the accused must demonstrate
upon a balance of probabilities that the absence of the
evidence denies them a fair trial. For this to happen, there
must be areal likelihood of prejudice to the right to full an-
swer and defence, in that the evidence if available would
have been more likely than not to assist the accused. For
the reasons enumerated earlier, speculation in this regard
should not be encouraged.

Application to the Case at Bar

108. I would begin by stating that as far as the applica-
tion of the law set out above to the particular facts of this
case is concerned, I am in substantial agreement with the
reasons of the Court of Appeal.

109. First, in reversing the decision [*101] of the trial
judge, the Court of Appeal correctly found that the deci-
sion of the trial judge was improperly motivated by his
dissatisfaction with the conduct of the Centre. As the trial
judge stated at one point (at pp. 307-8):

... every accused is entitled to a fair trial, which is the
foundation of our criminal justice system, and where the
evidence establishes, as it does in the present case, a bla-
tant and systematic process evolved by the director of
the Crisis Centre, either with or without the direction of
her superiors, to suppress, distort, and destroy files con-
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taining information from the complainants to avoid that
information from being produced in court according to
law in aid of the defence of an accused person, that is
the process which could well result in an innocent person
being convicted of a crime which he did not commit.

In this instance the director and/or her superiors were
not prepared to allow our system of justice to operate.
She and/or they took it upon themselves to be judge and
jury and to dispose of files which they knew had "po-
lice involvement", for the reason only that it had "police
involvement".

Further on, he compounded this error by assessing [*102]
the prejudice to the accused by focusing on the reasons
for the destruction of the documents rather than their use-
fulness at trial (at p. 308):

The accused has been deprived of that opportunity by the
destruction of the complainant's files and as I have previ-
ously found, it is not an answer to say that we do not know
what was in the file because they have been destroyed, be-
cause then that encourages and condones the actions of
those who have prevented an accused from being able to
properly examine the complainant on statements previ-
ously made by her on the very incidents upon which the
indictment is based.

110. It is clear that the trial judge did not properly con-
sider whether or not the appellant had actually suffered a
violation of his Charter rights by measuring the prejudice
caused by the absence of the impugned material, and in
not doing so, he erred.

111. Did the absence of the material in question here
violate the appellant's Charter rights? I am of the view
that any loss was no more than a mere speculative risk
to the appellant's rights, and that, as the Court of Appeal
found, no "realistic appraisal of the probable effect of
the lost notes can support the conclusion [*103] that
the accused's right to make full answer and defence was
compromised” (p. 215).

112. Furthermore, my assessment of the situation leads
me to conclude that, based on this Court's decision in
O'Connor, if a proper inquiry into the need for the doc-
uments had been held, these notes would not even have
met the standard for production to the trial judge. There
is no basis whatsoever to conclude that they were "likely
relevant”, aside from the bare assertion of counsel that
the material could somehow have been used to cross-
examine the complainant. While [ agree with the Court of
Appeal that this is not precisely what needs to be consid-

ered at this point, it goes without saying that if this lower
standard is not met, the more difficult onus of showing
prejudice to the appellant's fair trial interest will also not
be satisfied.

113. In O’Connor, this Court made it clear that produc-
tion of material from a third party necessitated a higher
threshold than what would be required if it were in the
Crown's possession. An accused, in making a request for
production, should not be allowed to undertake a general
fishing expedition into the records of a third party. This
would completely [¥*104] undermine the entire purpose
of O'Connor. While Lamer C.J. and Sopinka J. wrote in
that case that the standard of likely relevance could be
satisfied by demonstrating that the evidence could impact
upon the credibility of witnesses, this reference cannot
have been intended to mean the credibility of the witness
"at large", but must have been referring to their credibility
on the issues before the court. As I stated in O'Connor,
"[t]here is no question that the right to make full answer
and defence cannot be so broad as to grant the defence a
fishing licence into the personal and private lives of oth-
ers" (para. 107). Furthermore, I added (at paras. 142 and
144):

The burden on an accused to demonstrate likely relevance
is a significant one. For instance, it would be insufficient
for the accused to demand production simply on the basis
of a bare, unsupported assertion that the records might
impact on "recent complaint" or the "kind of person" the
witness is. Similarly, the applicant cannot simply invoke
credibility "at large", but must rather provide some basis
to show that there is likely to be information in the im-
pugned records which would relate to the complainant's
credibility [*105] on a particular, material issue at trial.
Equally inadequate is a bare, unsupported assertion that
a prior inconsistent statement might be revealed, or that
the defence wishes to explore the records for "allegations
of sexual abuse by other people". Such requests, without
more, are indicative of the very type of fishing expedition
that this Court has previously rejected in other contexts.
See, in the context of cross—-examination on sexual history,
Osolin, supra, at p. 618, per L'Heureux-Dube J. dissent-
ing, and Seaboyer, supra, at p. 634, per McLachlin J. for
the majority; in the context of search and seizure, Baron
v. Canada, [1993] 1 S.C.R. 416, at p. 448, per Sopinka J.
for the Court, and Hunter, supra, at p. 167, per Dickson J.
(as he then was) for the Court; in the context of wiretaps
and their supporting affidavits, Chaplin, supra, at p. 746,
per Sopinka J. for the Court, Durette, supra, at p. 523, per
L'Heureux-Dube J. dissenting, R. v. Thompson, [1990] 2
S.C.R. 1111, atp. 1169, per La Forest J. dissenting, and R.
v. Duarte, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 30, atp. 55, per La Forest J. for
the majority. See [*106] also Cross on Evidence (7th ed.
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1990), at pp. 51 et seq.; Halsbury's Laws of England (4th
ed. 1976), vol. 17, para. 5, at p. 7.; Wigmore on Evidence
(3rd ed. 1940), vol. 1, para. 9, at pp. 655 et seq.

Finally, it must not be presumed that the mere fact that a
witness received treatment or counselling after a sexual
assault indicates that the records will contain informa-
tion that is relevant to the defence. The focus of therapy
is vastly different from that of an investigation or other
process undertaken for the purposes of the trial. While
investigations and witness testimony are oriented toward
ascertaining historical truth — namely, the facts surround-
ing the alleged assault — therapy generally focuses on
exploring the complainant's emotional and psychological
responses to certain events, after the alleged assault has
taken place. Victims often question their perceptions and
Jjudgment, especially if the assailant was an acquaintance.
Therapy is an opportunity for the victim to explore her
own feelings of doubt and insecurity. It is not a fact-
finding exercise. Consequently, the vast majority of in-
formation noted during therapy sessions bears [*107] no
relevance whatsoever or, at its highest, only an attenu-
ated sense of relevance to the issues at trial. Moreover,
as | have already noted elsewhere, much of this informa-
tion is inherently unreliable and, therefore, may frustrate
rather than further the truth-seeking process. Thus, al-
though the fact that an individual has sought counselling
after an alleged assault may certainly raise the applicant's
hopes for a fruitful fishing expedition, it does not follow,
absent other evidence, that information found in those
records is likely to be relevant to the accused's defence.
[Empbhasis in original.]

114. In my view, the request made here amounted to no
more than what I stated should not be permitted: a fishing
expedition in the hopes of uncovering a prior inconsistent
statement. Despite the finding of the trial judge, there is
absolutely nothing on the record to suggest that there was
any discussion between the complainant and the counsel-
lor about the actual details of the events themselves. The
appellant, based on the evidence tendered during the voir
dire, failed to even satisfy the likely relevance threshold.

115. The motion for production, which, in fairness, was
made [*108] before this Court's reasons in O'Connor,
said that the grounds for the application were that the
documents were "relevant to a material issue in the de-
fence of the accused". Frankly, I fail to see upon what
basis this conclusion was reached. The defence initially
became aware of the fact that the complainant had at-
tended at the Centre from the disclosure of a statement
made by the complainant to the police which mentioned

it. The relevant portion of the statement stated:

On March 16, 1992, I attended the Sexual Abuse Crisis
Centre in Windsor and met with Peggy Romanello, a
counsellor. The reason I met with her was to find out
the procedure to be taken to lay charges against Nick
Carosella for sexual abuse when [ was 14 and 15 years
old. [Emphasis added.]

116. At the preliminary inquiry, counsel for the appellant
questioned the complainant on the details of those meet-
ings. The only testimony at the preliminary inquiry which
actually touched on this issue went as follows:

Q. All right. The day that you went down to the sexual
assault centre, did you make that decision yourself that
particular day ...

A. It was a joint decision with my husband and myself.

Q. All right. [*109] And he - he took you down, drove
you down, or did you go by yourself?

A. 1believe | went by myself.

Q. So you got there... But you arrived there and you spoke
to this person there?

A. Peggy Romanello.

Q. Peggy Romanello. And did you then - when you were
speaking to Peggy Romanello, did she sit down and, you

know, when you told her the whole story, did she make
some notes?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. And.

A. She told me that whatever I said would possibly be
subpoenaed for court.

Q. Mm-hmm.

A. And I said that was quite all right.

Q. So she made some notes?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did she ever give you copies of those notes?

A. No, sir.
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Q. So after those - the note taking, did she ask you to sign
the statement? Like did you sign a document there or go
over the notes that she made from what you had told her?

A. I'm not sure if I signed anything.
Q. Okay. But she certainly made notes?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you have any contact with Romanello after that?
A. Yes, sir.

Q. How many occasions would you have met with her?
A. I'mnot sure. I went to see her on a number of occasions.

Q. Can you give me an approximate number? I'm not
going to hold [*110] you to it, [ promise.

A. I don't know because she had to leave to - she was
having an operation. And there was a few times I went to
see her, and then I went a couple of times after that with
someone else. [Emphasis added.]

117. The appellant points to the portion of the testimony
which I have underlined above, where the complainant
agreed that she told the counsellor, the "whole story”. In
my view, this is a rather speculative interpretation of the
response. It was counsel for the appellant who said that
the complainant told Ms. Romanello the "whole story",
in the midst of posing what amounts to two questions at
once. The complainant would appear to have been an-
swering 'yes' to the fact that Ms. Romanello made some
notes, and not necessarily to the proposition that she re-
lated the "whole story". As this was the only reference to
the substantive details of the counselling sessions, I think
it takes a major leap of faith to arrive at any conclusion
about what was actually related.

118. At the point when the order for production was
made, this was the totality of evidence available to the
court. In my view, this did not get the appellant anywhere
near the likely relevance {*111] threshold. Aside from
pure speculation, there is no evidence whatsoever that the
complainant ever spoke to the counsellor in depth about
the details of the incidents which were before the court.
In fact, the only information which speaks about the ac-

tual sessions, in the original police statement, is to the
contrary: that the reason for going was to find out how to
go about the procedure to lay charges.

119. This information vacuum was not improved upon by
the testimony which took place at the voir dire. Counsel
for the appellant was quite concerned about examining in
detail the persons responsible for shredding the records,
but seemed uninterested in trying to get to the substance
of the conversations between the complainant and the
counsellor. While it is true that Ms. Romanello admitted
that she had no recollection of the actual conversations
between herself and the complainant, the only evidence
given about her usual practice of speaking with clients
was elicited by the Crown and went as follows:

Q. ... Now the purpose of you keeping some notes, is that
so that you can help the person as far as their counselling
needs?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. You don't investigate {*112] the actual or
alleged crime, do you?

A. No.

Q. All right. That's not the purpose of you making any
records. Is that right?

A. Not at all.

Q. As far as your notes are, is it correct to state that basi-
cally it's a summary of what the person is telling you as
opposed to a verbatim account?

A. Yes.

Q. All right. You are not in the habit of letting the per-
son, for example in this case [the complainant] look at the
notes to confirm that they were accurate. Is that right?

A. No.

Q. She never looked at them, did she?

A. No, she didn't.

Q. All right.

A. Not to my memory, no. [Emphasis added.]

120. This evidence supports the conclusion that any infor-
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mation on the actual details of the alleged incidents was
likely to have been sketchy and general. Most importantly,
counsel for the appellant never asked a question about the
details of the conversations to the one person who could
have answered whether they were relevant or not: the
complainant. My colleague says of the complainant that
"even if she could recall she would not likely admit that
what was said was inconsistent with her present testi-
mony" (para. 54). This may in fact be true, but [*113]
at the very least the complainant could have given valu-
able insight into the materiality of the notes, and could
have expanded upon whether or not what was spoken of
related in detail to the incidents or whether the actual de-
tails were merely peripheral to the therapeutic aspect of
the meetings as testified to by Ms. Romanello. Such an in-
quiry is crucial to making the "likely relevance" threshold
a meaningful one: see L. Stuesser, "General Principles
Concerning Disclosure" (1996), 1 Can. Crim. L.R. 1, at
p. 13.

121. In my view, the appellant failed to even get over
the threshold of likely relevance. While there was some
evidence indicating that the complainant spoke of the of-
fence, this is a far cry from saying that there were details
given which could have impacted upon her credibility on
a material issue if she were to be cross-examined. The
appellant failed to establish an evidentiary basis which
would allow a court to conclude that these materials met
the threshold of likely relevance. While the trial judge and
my colleague appear willing to infer from the sheer length
of the conversations that there were notes made which
could have been of assistance, I do not think [*114] this
is a course which should be followed.

122. In any event, even assuming these notes were "likely
relevant” and should have been ordered produced, I am
at a loss to see how their absence could have occasioned
the appellant any prejudice whatsoever, especially given
the evidence at the voir dire and the multitude of other
materials available to cross-examine the complainant.

123. The trial judge, however, found that there was un-
doubtedly prejudice occasioned by the loss of the state-
ments. Specifically, he stated (at p. 306):

I agree with Crown counsel that we are not to speculate
as to what was contained in the destroyed notes, but are
we speculating when Mrs. Romanello agrees that her ini-
tial interview of the complainant over a period of one
hour and 45 minutes, and other interviews, were about
the very incidents of victimization sexually of the com-
plainant by the accused as contained in the indictment.
The counselling was to be for those incidents. The in-
terviews were the subject matter of those incidents and
the notes taken concerning those incidents. Therefore 1

find that there is no speculation in coming to the conclu-
sion that the notes of those interviews noted in the [*115]
documents produced by the Crisis Centre relate to alleged
sexual incidents in this trial and, therefore, are relevant
and material and would more likely than not tend to assist
the accused. The speculation may relate to the details of
those notes which we will never know, but that is much
different from a finding that the subject matter of the notes
is known and is, in fact, material and relevant.

124. T have a great deal of difficulty with this conclusion,
and agree with the respondent that accepting it would in-
volve a major "leap of logic". First, as set out above, I am
not convinced that the material was relevant in the sense
desired by the appellant. There was a complete absence
of evidence to suggest this was the case.

125. Moreover, these notes would have constituted evi-
dence of the lowest possible quality. They should not be
confused with 'statements' upon which the complainant
could have been cross-examined. These were notes made
by another party. They were not acknowledged as a proper
recording by the complainant, and any inconsistency
would have suffered from several defects, including the
fact that they were merely a summary, and not a detailed
recounting of the [*116] interview. In my view, it is
highly likely that anything which did appear inconsistent
would have been of such low value given the circum-
stances that the prejudice from allowing the witness to be
cross-examined upon them would have outweighed any
potential probative value: R. v. Seaboyer, [1991] 2 S.C.R.
577, atp. 634.

126. I go even further. Even if it was somehow demon-
strated that the appellant could have cross-examined the
complainant on the destroyed notes, or laid a founda-
tion for such cross-examination, their absence does not
demonstrate prejudice in the context of this case. As afore-
mentioned, the Charter only guarantees a fair trial, and
not the most favourable procedure to the accused that
could be imagined: O'Connor, supra; R. v. Lyons, [1987]
2 S.C.R. 309. It is clear that the appellant had no shortage
of material upon which to test the complainant's credibil-
ity. First, the defence had two detailed statements which
were given to the police, the first of which was made
one day after she attended the Centre. There is nothing to
suggest notes made at the Centre would have been mate-
rially different from the statements given to the police. In
addition, [*117] the complainant was subject to cross—
examination at the preliminary inquiry, in which coun-
sel for the appellant probed deeply into the details of the
alleged offence.
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127. In light of the multitude of evidence which was
available to the accused, it is purely speculative to sug-
gest that anything the complainant said to Ms. Romanello
may have been materially inconsistent, and even if it was,
that it was not duplicated by what was available to the
defence: See regarding this approach: R. v. Tobin (1995),
142 N.S.R. (2d) 83 (S.C.); R. v. Ross, [1995] O.J. No. 3716
(Gen. Div.); United States v. Femia, 9 F.3d 990 (Ist Cir.
1993), at p. 994. In addition, given these circumstances, |
find it difficult to conclude that the unavailability of some
evidence, through no fault of the Crown, or for that mat-
ter, the complainant, could have deprived the accused of a
fair trial. In my view, for the reasons I have set out above,
the appellant did not come anywhere near achieving the
onus that was upon him to demonstrate prejudice to his
ability to make full answer and defence. I am therefore
in agreement with the Court of Appeal that there was no
breach of the appellant's rights in this [*118] regard.

128. Before moving on, I wish to add that I agree with
the respondent that the pre-trial motion which took place
in this case should be avoided whenever possible: O’
Connor, supra. While the matter proceeded in that way
on consent between the Crown and the appellant, an ap-
plication of this nature should ordinarily be brought at the
conclusion of the Crown's case so that a more complete
examination into the potential prejudice can be properly
assessed: R. v. Martin (1991), 63 C.C.C. (3d) 71 (Ont.
C.A), atp. 85, aff'd /1992] 1 S.C.R. 838, R. v. B. (D.J),
supra; R. v. Andrew (1992), 60 0.A4.C. 324.

Remedy

129. As I have concluded there was no violation in the
case at bar, it is not strictly necessary to deal with the
application of's. 24(1) here; nevertheless, I wish to briefly
comment upon the issue of remedies in missing evidence
cases generally.

130. In my view, assessing the proper remedy in a case
where missing evidence is shown to affect the accused's
right to full answer and defence must be done in its proper
context. As aforementioned, it is crucial that the ruling
not be made in isolation and that a trial judge consider all
[*119] the evidence in the case before coming to a con-
crete assessment of the appropriate remedy. In essence,
as I stated in O’Connor, a stay of proceedings should con-
tinue to be a remedy of last resort, and should come into
play only in the "clearest of cases" where the prejudice
suffered is irreparable, and no other remedy will suffice.

131. The key factor in assessing whether other remedies
are possible will be an examination of how the evidence
could have potentially impacted upon the Crown's case.

It may well be that, although a violation of the Charter
occurred, its effect was confined to one particular issue,
and that a stay is not the necessary remedy. In an ap-
propriate case, the trial judge could consider a variety of
remedies. It might, for example, be sufficient in a case
to exclude evidence tendered by the Crown which was
closely integrated with the missing material. In another
situation, the lost evidence might be distinguishable to
one particular issue, and although the accused was able to
demonstrate that the evidence would have been helpful,
it did not necessarily exculpate him. For example, in a
case where the accused was charged with murder, the lost
evidence, [*120] at its highest, might only have elim-
inated the intent to kill. In such a case, it would still be
possible to make a determination of the accused's guilt or
innocence on a lesser, included offence. Given that there
was no violation in this case, there is no need to examine
this in detail. These situations are best dealt with as they
arise.

132. I note, however, that the American authorities have
examined the question of remedies in some detail, and
their experience may prove useful in helping to arrive at
an appropriate remedy in an individual case. Like ours,
the American position is that dismissing charges against
an accused, the equivalent of a stay of proceedings, should
only occur where no other remedy will suffice. For a help-
ful summary of some of the remedies which have been
proposed in cases of missing evidence, see People v. Kelly,
467 N.E.2d 498 (N.Y. 1984); Peoplev. Sams, 685 P.2d 157
(Colo. 1984).

Abuse of Process

133. Because of my conclusion that the appellant has
not demonstrated any prejudice to his right to make full
answer and defence, it is necessary for me to address
his alternative argument that the Centre's conduct was an
abuse of process by virtue [*121] of being an affront to
the judicial system. There are two answers to this argu-
ment. In the first place, this "residual category” of abuse
of process focuses on the motives and conduct of the
prosecution, not on the motives of third parties. In the
second place, even if third parties' conduct were relevant,
the Centre's conduct was not such an affront to the judi-
cial system that it could be characterized as an abuse of
process.

The Residual Category of Abuse of Process and the
Conduct of Third Parties

134. In O'Connor, supra, at para. 73, I described the
"residual category" of abuse of process cases as "ad-
dress[ing] the panoply of diverse and sometimes unfore-
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seeable circumstances in which a prosecution is con-
ducted in such a manner as to connote unfairness or vexa-
tiousness of such a degree that it contravenes fundamental
notions of justice and thus undermines the integrity of the
judicial process" (emphasis added). The question, in other
words, is whether the prosecution undermines the moral
integrity of the system.

135. It is difficult to see how the conduct of a third party
could undermine the moral integrity of a prosecution if
it does not affect the fairness [*122] of the trial. The
law recognizes that serious improprieties on the part of
the police or prosecuting authorities ulterior motives for
a prosecution and entrapment, to name but two examples
could be so inconsistent with the community's sense of
decency that a remedy for abuse of process is warranted
even if the impugned conduct did not affect the fairness
of the trial. See D. M. Paciocco, "The Stay of Proceedings
as a Remedy in Criminal Cases: Abusing the Abuse of
Process Concept" (1991), 15 Crim. L.J. 315, at pp. 318-
19; A. L.-T. Choo, "Halting Criminal Prosecutions: The
Abuse of Process Doctrine Revisited", /1995] Crim. L.R.
864, at pp. 866-71. However, the conduct of a potential
witness or other third party cannot be assimilated to an
abuse by the state of its investigatory powers and prose-
cutorial prerogative.

136. For example, a witness may commit perjury in an
effort to obtain the conviction of an accused he or she
dislikes. If this is discovered during the trial, it does not
become an abuse of process. The jury can disregard the
testimony, and appropriate measures can be taken against
the witness. Similarly, a witness may breach a court order
out of disrespect [*123] for the judicial system. Here, the
proper course of action, where the conduct of a witness
undermines the authority of the court and brings the ad-
ministration of justice into disrepute, is to cite the witness
for contempt of court or take other appropriate action.
The prosecution itself does not damage the authority of
the court, unless the conduct of the third party was such
as to compromise the accused's right to a fair trial. Absent
such circumstances, the prosecution is not an abuse of
process.

137. Itis true that there can be an abuse of process where
the criminal courts are used by private parties for an im-
proper purpose, such as the collection of a civil debt. See
Rourke v. The Queen, [1978] 1 S.C.R. 1021, at p. 1031,
the only decision cited by the appellant on this point. See
also Paciocco, supra, at p. 319, fn. 12; Choo, supra, at pp.
866-67. However, even in such cases, the abuse lies in the
use of the judicial process as an instrument of extortion
in the realization of a goal beyond the proper scope of a
criminal proceeding. The question is not whether some

third party's conduct is reprehensible, but whether the
prosecution would undermine the moral [*124] integrity
of the judicial system.

138. This was in fact the finding of this Court in Vermette,
supra. Inthat case, as aforementioned, the accused argued
that the actions of the Premier of the province in breach-
ing the sub judice rule violated his right to a fair trial. He
also argued that the continued prosecution constituted an
abuse of process. On this point, La Forest J. substantially
adopted the reasoning of Beauregard J.A. as to whether
the action of someone outside the Attorney General's of-
fice could amount to an abuse of process. Specifically,
Beauregard J.A. stated (at pp. 540-41 C.C.C.):

With respect to the second submission, I am also of
the humble opinion that it has not been proven that the
Attorney-General committed an abuse of process.

The mistrial was not caused by any act of the Attorney-
General or anyone under his control. The acts of the head
of the government, who as a member of the Assembly,
infringed the sub judice rule to the detriment of the re-
spondent, cannot be attributed to the Attorney-General
because he is a member of this same government.

The Attorney-General, conscious that a new trial would
certainly cause some prejudice to the [*125] respon-
dent, weighed this prejudice against the public interest
that crime be fought. In light of the nature of the charges
in this case and the fundamental rights placed in jeopardy
by these crimes. I am not convinced that the Attorney-
General used his discretion in an abusive fashion.

139. In the case at bar, we would appear to have a similar
situation. The Crown has decided in good faith that it was
appropriate to prosecute the appellant in respect of the
acts of gross indecency he allegedly committed against
the complainant. I share the view of the Court of Appeal
that, whatever the motives of the third party Crisis Centre,
the Crown was not abusing the court's process. The con-
duct of a third party cannot, unless it affects the fairness of
the trial, disentitle the Crown to proceed with a case which
it believes in good faith to be suitable for prosecution.

140. The appeliant alternatively attempts to identify gov-
ernment action on the part of the Centre by suggesting
that the Centre and the Crown are closely aligned because
the Centre receives a major part of its funding from the
government and must follow certain guidelines in the pro-
cess. In my view, the suggestion that [¥126] the Centre
can be considered an arm of the Attorney General, or
indeed, even a government agency, cannot be seriously
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entertained.
Crisis Centre's Conduct

141. In any event, I am not convinced that the Crisis
Centre's conduct was "manifestly inappropriate” so as to
meet the standard of an abuse of process. Of course, given
my conclusions on the other issues, it is not necessary to
address this point. Nevertheless, strictly as an aside, I
would offer the following comments.

142. The Crisis Centre was not acting out of animus
against this appellant; nor was it acting out of generalized
animus against persons accused of sexual assault, or at the
instigation of the Crown. Rather, the record indicates that
the Crisis Centre was implementing a general policy de-
signed to protect its clients' privacy and ensure that women
would not be dissuaded from seeking assistance for fear
that their private discussions will be communicated to the
defence. The fact that this particular complainant had, to
a certain extent, waived confidentiality does not affect
the validity of the Crisis Centre's general policy. It is en-
tirely legitimate and understandable for a centre to warn
its clients [*127] that their files could be subpoenaed, and
to obtain their consent to release the records in such an
eventuality, while at the same time taking steps to defend
the confidentiality of the records.

143. According to Sopinka J., the conduct of the Crisis
Centre is an affront to the justice system and the Crisis
Centre is flouting the authority of the courts. In my view,
it is important to keep the actions of the Centre in their
proper perspective. First, this is not a case where a person
shredded documents in respect of which a subpoena or
court order had been issued. On the contrary, the Crisis
Centre's policy on shredding states that "[w]e cannot shred
a document if it has been subpoenaed or there is an appli-
cation requesting a Court Order."

144. Tt is also highly significant that the Centre was under
no obligation whatsoever to create or maintain records.
My colleague appears to suggest that an independent
agency cannot destroy materials which might one day
be required to be produced to the court. In my view, this
type of obligation is completely inappropriate. The Centre
created notes for its own purposes. It was under no obli-
gation to do so. Once it did, it had a legitimate [*128]
property interest in them which it was able to do with as
it saw fit. To suggest that the court should be able to en-

force a maintenance obligation to property which might
one day be needed by the courts is a hefty burden indeed:
see Martin, supra, at p. 116; Gilmour, supra, at p. 256.

145. In this case, the implementing of the policy was
confined to cases where there was so-called "police in-
volvement", and this factor in and of itself could perhaps
be seen as questionable. Nevertheless, a policy to destroy
all notes made with clients could not be seen in the same
light.

146. In O'Connor, the Court held that complainants'
records, if in existence, may be ordered produced. It also
articulated a special procedure for determining whether
such records should be produced, and, in my view, the
raison d'tre of this procedure was to enhance the protec-
tion given to the complainant's privacy. The procedure
does not impose a special obligation on therapists and
counsellors to create or retain records. Like the holders of
any other kind of confidential record, the Centre and other
therapists are at liberty to adopt legal policies in confor-
mity with what is, in their [*129] view, appropriate.

147. Finally, I must comment upon the fact that these
agencies have even felt it necessary to go to such lengths.
From a quick perusal of lower court judgments, it would
appear as if a request for therapeutic records in cases of
sexual assault is becoming virtually automatic, with lit-
tle regard to the actual relevancy of the documents. We
have now come to a situation where people trying to help
victims have resorted to foregoing the taking of notes or
destroying them en masse in order to prevent what they
see as a grave injustice. It is extremely likely that the
therapeutical process for which these notes are actually
created is being harmed in their absence; Gilmour, supra,
at p. 257, MacCrimmon, supra, at p. 56.

Disposition
148. In the result, I would dismiss the appeal.

ORDER: Appeal allowed, La Forest, L'Heureux-Dube,
Gonthier and McLachlin JJ. dissenting.

SOLICITORS: Solicitor for the appellant:
Duncan, Toronto.
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